## "THOSE WHO SERVE GOD



# SHOULD NOT FOLLOW THE FASHIONS"

— Our Lady of Fatima

(Sixth Edition)



## Those Who Serve God Should Not Follow the Fashions

First Published A.D. 2003
Sixth Edition — Revised January 2017

© A.D. 2017 Robert T. Hart

With the full approval of this author — FOR THE GOOD OF SOULS — anyone may copy and distribute this booklet FOR FREE. In doing so, however, it MAY NOT BE ALTERED. Quotations may also be freely taken from it as long as credit is given stating the name of the booklet, the author and the publisher. This booklet MAY NOT BE SOLD without the express written permission of the author.

#### DOWNLOAD MORE COPIES (in Printable Booklet form) FROM:

#### SicutInCaelo.org

Find here other Free Downloadable Booklets — all particularly pertinent to the present crisis in the Catholic Church.

PLEASE, PRINT AND DISTRIBUTE THEM!

To purchase printed copies of this booklet, contact:

Little Flowers Family Press (authorized to sell the printed booklet) at: 1 (888) 254-7782 or visit: littleflowersfamilypress.com.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

		<u>Page</u>
1.	The Mind of the Church on Modesty in Dress	5
	The Need for this booklet	5
	A Cultural Revolution — the Masonic Plan	6
2.	Two Aspects of Christian Modesty: First Aspect: Avoid Being an Occasion of Sin	8
	Strong Admonitions from the Saints	10
	The Need for a Unified Standard	13
3.	The Second Aspect: The Spirit of Modesty and The Traditional Form of Dress	14
	The Traditional Form of Dress	15
	The Need for Distinction	16
	Reverence for the Female Body (the mitten and the glove)	18
	A Perceptive Cardinal's Letter	19
	The Church's thinking on Women's Attire	23
	Shrines of the Holy Ghost	25
	A Positive Effect on Society	26
4.	The Standards	26
	The Marylike Standards For Modesty In Dress	27
	Standards for Men	28

		<u>Page</u>
	Standards for Children and Youth	29
	Sports and Recreation	31
	Norms for Church and Other Sacred Places	32
5.	The Feminine Advantage	33
	§ § §	
	END NOTES	36
	APPENDIX I — ROME'S DECREES ON THE DUTIES OF THOSE IN AUTHORITY	39
	APPENDIX II — HEADCOVERING IN CHURCH	43
	APPENDIX III — PERTINENT PROPHECIES	46
	MARYLIKE STANDARDS CUT-OUT  (to take when shopping)Inside Back C	Cover

### 1. The Mind of the Catholic Church on Modesty in Dress

Often today we hear sensible people complaining about the immodesty in dress that is seen everywhere and unfortunately even in our churches. But, objectively speaking, where do we draw the line and call a garment immodest? And how can we be sure that we ourselves are dressing with proper Christian modesty that is pleasing to God? This booklet is provided to answer these questions. For on this subject, through his Church, God has made his Will clearly known. Perhaps for some, this booklet will be the litmus test to determine whether or not they are truly willing to deny themselves, to take up their cross, and follow Jesus.

#### The Need for this Booklet

It is widely known that Pope Pius XII often said: "The greatest sin of our modern generation is that it has lost all sense of sin." It is less known that more specifically he once stated: "Many women... give in to the tyranny of fashion, be it even immodest, in such a way as to appear not even to suspect that it is unbecoming. They have lost the very concept of danger: they have lost the instinct of modesty."<sup>2</sup> These words spoken over 50 years ago ring more true today than ever (and not only for women). For in today's post-Christian society where indecent and improper dress have become the norm, even among good-willed and devout Catholics there is much ignorance as to what is meant by proper Christian modesty. Yes, even the most virtuous of Catholics who attend daily Mass and have an intimate relationship with Jesus, frequently are not fully aware of the Church's teaching in this matter. Could it be that this booklet is for you? May Our Lady, our true Mother, be with you to enlighten you to understand and to be receptive to the Will of God in this matter — for indeed, it may be a challenge.

This booklet has been prepared, therefore, to provide all those who have been given the immense privilege of calling themselves Catholic the information they need to be well aware of the mind of the Church, and therefore the mind of Christ, on what constitutes proper Christian modesty and decency in dress.

#### A Cultural Revolution — the Masonic Plan

Now, how is it that there exists today this ignorance among devout Catholics regarding proper Christian modesty? We have passed through a Cultural Revolution — a revolution purposely designed by the Freemasons to destroy the once Catholic culture on which Western Civilization was founded, and with it the Catholic religion itself. This single quote from a 1928 letter of a Mason makes clear their plan:

Religion does not fear the dagger's point; but it can vanish under corruption. Let us not grow tired of corruption: we may use a pretext such as sport, hygiene, health resorts. It is necessary to corrupt, that our boys and girls practice nudism in dress. To avoid too much reaction, one would have to progress in a methodical manner: first, undress up to the elbow; then up to the knees; then arms and legs completely uncovered; later, the upper part of the chest, the shoulders, etc. etc.\*

Although styles began changing for the worse soon after World War I, it was only 40-50 years ago<sup>†</sup> that the true revolution took

\_

It is corruption on a big scale that we have undertaken...a corruption that should one day enable us to lead the Church to its grave. Lately, I heard one of our friends laughing philosophically at our projects saying: "To destroy Catholicism, we should do away with women." The idea is good in a certain way, but since we cannot get rid of women, let us corrupt them with the Church. "Corruptio optimi, pessima." The best dagger to strike the Church is corruption. (Letter of Vindice to Nubius; [pen-names of two leaders of the Italian 'Alta Vendita'] dated the 9<sup>th</sup> of August 1838.)

<sup>\*</sup> Notably, this same year (1928) Pope Pius XI would issue his universal standard for modesty in dress. Another letter of a Mason from 90 years earlier shows that this diabolical plan had already been underway for a long time:

Catholicism does not fear a very sharp sword any more than the monarchies feared it. But, these two foundations of Social Order can collapse under corruption; let us never tire to corrupt them. Tertullian was right in saying that from the blood of martyrs Christians are born; let us not make martyrs; but, let us popularise vice among the multitudes; may they breathe it through their five senses; may they drink it and be saturated. Make vicious hearts and there will be no more Catholics.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>dagger}$  40-50 years ago: That is, from the first publishing of this book in 2004.

place. Since that time, little has been done to preach against the new, unchristian fashions which have become the norm. In a recent article, Catholic journalist, Marian Therese Horvat, Ph.D. <sup>4</sup> explained:

If we understand the revolution as the abolition of a natural and good order of things so as to replace it with the opposite, we can begin to analyze the cultural revolution that has changed the customs, habits and ways of being of modern-day man. The cultural revolution includes a revolution in style, in which a new "loose," "relaxed," egalitarian and vulgar type of clothing and way of being came to replace the existing order and values that had been cultivated by Christian Civilization.

She went on to explain that this revolution, which began to take place in the 1960s, affects our way of thinking and the health of our society:

Now, some thirty years after, we can see that this egalitarian revolution has produced profound transformations in the mentality of modern-day men — even of those who call themselves conservative. Dress began to change in a way that increasingly accentuated the idea not only of equality among sexes — with increasingly unisex clothing — but also the notion of equality among social classes. The differentiation in dress that still remained in the '60s to indicate a class or office of life has largely disappeared. The businessman and lawyer are removing their suits, the professor looks like the student, the doctor like his gardener. In effect, the consequence of the underlying philosophy of this revolution was the creation of an egalitarian, vulgar and sexually liberated culture to replace the Catholic culture characterized by harmonic inequalities and chaste customs. ... The new "anythinggoes" dress and way of being gives no opportunity for souls to mirror the moral values and notion of hierarchy necessary for the good ordering of any sound society.

Dr. Horvat went on to say, "Christendom has always been understood as a projection of the Catholic principles into every aspect of the temporal sphere." This means Catholics are called to counter this anti-Catholic Cultural Revolution by reestablishing Catholic principles in society. One way they can

and must do this is by choosing clothing that truly reflects our Christian belief. For as Horvat recognized, "The more a civilization becomes Christian, the more the clothing of men will be virile, dignified, noble — from the highest dignitary to the lowest worker."

This booklet may seem lengthy for the topic it covers, but since this Cultural Revolution has "produced profound transformations in the mentality of modern day men — even of those who call themselves conservative," many words are needed to point out the errors of this modern mentality. The goal of this booklet is not to preach self-righteously to those who are erring, but as humbly as possible, to present the Catholic truth. Thus it is hoped that the sincere Catholics will be assisted in replacing this false mentality with the truly Catholic one that is in full harmony with the Holy Will of God.

## 2. The Two Aspects of Christian Modesty: First Aspect: Avoid Being an Occasion of Sin

There are two aspects to Christian modesty. The first is to avoid being an occasion of sin. The second, more positively speaking, is to be instilled with the spirit of modesty inspired by a deep love for the virtue of chastity, and also by the proper understanding that our clothing is meant to enhance the dignity of the human body and to be a symbol of our state in life. Both aspects, while in no way excluding men, are much more important for women. Because of the natural differences in the genders, women are both far more prone to be occasions of sin, and, being "the weaker vessel" (1Pet. 3:7), to be treated with less dignity or respect. Proper dress does much to overcome this, and this is why St. Paul wrote in the New Testament that women should appear "in decent apparel; adorning themselves with modesty and sobriety." (1 Tim. 2:9).

With regards to the first aspect — avoiding being an occasion of sin — the late Archbishop Albert G. Meyer of Milwaukee,

Wisconsin, has these words to say, taken from his Pastoral Letter to the Clergy, Religious and Faithful Laity of May 1, 1956:

In the desire to fulfill the charge given to us as your pastor, whose duty it is to protect his flock against the enemy, and as an appointed watchman of God, who must speak out in clear and explicit warnings, lest the sins of those who err be charged to his account (Ezech. 33:8-9), we have decided to address this letter to you. In this letter, it is our thought to consider the general subject of Decency...

We are impelled to do this as we recall some of the recent forceful statements of our Holy Father (Pope Pius XII\*) ...

... With regard to clothing, modesty requires especially two things: first, care that one does not make purity difficult for oneself, or for others, by one's own mode of dress; and, second, a prudent but firm and courageous resistance to the styles and customs, no matter how popular or widespread, or adopted by others, which are a danger to purity . ...

... We must emphasize in the strongest possible language that it is Catholic teaching, based on the most clear words of Christ Himself, that impure thoughts and desires freely indulged in are serious sins. To invite such impure thoughts and desires through dress ... [one] cannot help but participate [in] the grave sin of scandal and cooperation.<sup>5</sup>

Heaven too warned us to offer a "firm and courageous resistance to the styles and customs," for Our Lady of Fatima told Blessed Jacinta Marto in 1919:

Certain fashions are to be introduced which will offend Our Lord very much. Those who serve God should not follow these fashions. The Church has no fashions. Our Lord is always the same. 6

<sup>\*</sup>In a letter ordered by Pope Pius XII and issued by the Sacred Congregation of the Council on Aug. 15, 1954, he directed the world's bishops to "take action against the most serious plague of immodest fashions." He further implored, "promote with all your power, everything which has to do with the protection of modesty" and "leave no stone unturned which can remedy the situation."

Unfortunately many modern women do not understand the strong reaction men have to immodest dress. For this reason, even fifty years ago Pope Pius XII was led to exclaim: "How many young girls there are who do not see any wrongdoing in following certain shameless styles like so many sheep. They would certainly blush if they could guess the impression they make and the feelings they evoke in those who see them."

Dear Catholic ladies, you must clearly understand that, while not all men are tempted in the same way or to the same extent, in general, bare thighs, mid-riffs, shoulders, and backs; low cut, sheer or see-through blouses and shirts; and dresses with long slits are all sources of temptation. Therefore, all these must all be absolutely avoided to avoid serious sin.

Even when the body is adequately covered, be aware that clothes that adhere too closely to the flesh and reveal a woman's form (so common in our time) are just as much a source of temptation. Pants on women are of special concern because by their very nature they conform more to the shape of the body than dresses or skirts. Therefore, it is generally more difficult for a woman to preserve modesty in them, especially when she stoops or bends. Tight-fitting jeans — which unfortunately are most popular today — incite impurity in the most blatant manner. They are certainly the source of innumerable mortal sins and have no place on Christian women. As the second century the Father of the Church, St. Clement of Alexandria warned: "Luxurious clothing that cannot conceal the shape of the body is no more a covering. For such clothing, falling close to the body, takes its form more easily.... As a result, the whole make of the body is visible to spectators, although they cannot see the body itself."

#### Strong Admonitions from the Saints

Be well aware that the strict necessity of modesty in dress has been the constant teaching of the Church throughout the centuries. As Fr. Stefano M. Manelli, FFI (once an altar boy for St. Padre Pio), stated in his marvelous book, <u>Jesus Our Eucharistic Love</u>: "A strict insistence on this particular point is a constant in the lives of all the Saints, from the Apostle, St. Paul (telling the woman to wear a veil

so that she may not need to have her head appear 'as if she were shorn': [1Cor. 11:5-6]), to St. John Chrysostom, St. Ambrose, etc., down to Padre Pio of Pietrelcina, who would permit no halfway measures, but always insisted on modest dresses clearly below the knees."8 In fact, when coming to confess, if their dresses were lowcut or too short, St. Padre Pio would send the women away, refusing them this Sacrament. As dresses in the 60's became scantier and scantier, he sent larger and larger numbers of women away. It finally came to pass — since he was sending so many away — that his fellow friars posted a sign on the door of the Church which read: "By Padre Pio's explicit wish, women must enter the confessional wearing skirts at least 8 inches below the knee...." If those whom he refused asked why he treated them in this manner, he would answer: "Don't you know what pain it costs me to shut the door on anyone? The Lord has forced me to do so. I do not call anyone, nor do I refuse anyone either. There is someone else who calls and refuses them. I am His useless tool."9

Certainly this action was most appropriate, since it would not have been right to grant them absolution while dressed in an indecent manner. For as St. John Chrysostom, Doctor of the Church, taught:

When you have made another sin in his heart, how can you be innocent? Tell me, whom does this world condemn? Whom do judges in court punish? Those who drink poison or those who prepare it and administer the fatal potion? You have prepared the abominable cup, you have given the death-dealing drink, and you are more criminal than are those who poison the body; you murder not the body but the soul. And it is not to enemies you do this, nor are you urged on by any imaginary necessity, nor provoked by injury, but out of foolish vanity and pride. 10

These are some of those "hard sayings" (Jn. 6:61) of the Gospel which are often unpopular in our times. Yet, since the Gospel must be preached "in season" and "out of season" (2Tim. 4:2) no compromise can be made. The words of the Angelic Doctor help us to keep the proper perspective: "The good of our soul is more important than that of our body; and we have to prefer the spiritual welfare of our neighbor to our bodily comforts.<sup>11</sup> For

precisely this reason, Pope Pius XII concluded that if a certain kind of dress "becomes a grave and proximate danger for the salvation of the soul...it is your duty to give it up." 12

If these words are not enough to convince our Catholic women of the grave necessity of modestly covering their bodies, we hope that the following anecdote from Fr. Schouppe's book on Hell will do so:

...[A] noble lady, who was exceedingly pious, asked God to make known to her what displeased His Divine Majesty most in persons of her sex. The Lord vouchsafed in a miraculous manner to hear her. He opened under her eyes the Eternal Abyss. There she saw a woman a prey to cruel torments and in her recognized one of her friends, a short time before deceased. This sight caused her as much astonishment as grief: the person whom she saw damned did not seem to her to have lived badly. Then that unhappy soul said to her: "It is true that I practiced religion, but I was a slave of vanity. Rued by the passion to please, I was not afraid to adopt indecent fashions to attract attention, and I kindled the fire of impurity in more than one heart. Ah! If Christian women knew how much immodesty in dress displeases God!" At the same moment, this unhappy soul was pierced by two fiery lances, and plunged into a caldron of liquid lead. 13

Christian ladies should also remember that if men are stronger than women in their bodies, they are weaker in the area of sensuality. If the man's duty is to use his superior strength, not to bring harm to women, but rather to assist, protect and defend them physically, it is the woman's duty to use her strength in the area of sensuality (by her conduct and by her dress) to help men to remain chaste. As it is said: "Women are the guardians of chastity for the world." Christian gentlemen should be aware that women often dress with a desire to please men. Therefore, they must be careful not to express — either by their words or looks — any approval for the appearance of women who dress in any manner displeasing to God. In contrast, it can be useful to compliment those who dress with due reserve.

#### The Need for a Unified Standard

Seeing, then, what grave words have been spoken in the Church regarding modesty, one is left to ask: How can I be certain that I am dressing in a manner that conforms with the Church's understanding of modesty? The answer is found in a 1935 publication of the "League of Modesty": "The adoption of a unified standard is necessary." Otherwise, everyone would do whatever suits them and the attempt to ensure that all clothe themselves in objectively modest attire would "shatter on the rocks of discordant opinions...." Fortunately, the Church has (at least for women) given us just such a standard.

This standard came into being because of Pope Pius XI's order on August 23, 1928 for a "Crusade Against Immodest Fashions, Especially in Schools Directed by Religious." <sup>15</sup> As part of that Crusade, on September 24 of the same year, by order of the Pope, Cardinal Pompili (Pius XI's Cardinal-Vicar) issued a letter in which the following standard was given:

In order that uniformity in understanding prevail...we recall that a dress cannot be called decent which is cut deeper than two fingers' breadth under the pit of the throat; which does not cover the arms at least to the elbows; and scarcely reaches a bit beyond the knees. Furthermore, dresses of transparent materials are improper.<sup>16</sup>

The Crusade was initially addressed only to the institutions directed by female religious in Italy. However, in 1930 the Pope extended his Crusade to all the world. By the Pope's mandate, on January 12, 1930, a letter was issued from the Sacred Congregation of the Council to all the bishops of the world. In this letter, the directives on modesty were given not only to institutes directed by female religious, but *"they were extended to include also pastors, parents and the laity in general."* <sup>17</sup>

It was from Pope Pius XI's universal standard that an American priest, Fr. Bernard A. Kunkel, developed "The Marylike Standards For Modesty In Dress." Fr. Kunkel's idea was to use Mary as the model of modesty and the Pope's

standard as a concrete guide, and thus with his "Marylike Standards," women could be sure of pleasing God in their manner of dress.

Fr. Kunkel's Marylike Standards were submitted to the discretion of the Church, and, as a result, on December 8, 1944 with full ecclesiastical approval, the "Marylike Modesty Crusade" was born. For a full quarter century (till his death in 1969) Fr. Kunkel led this Crusade, preaching that the universal standard of Pius XI was binding on all Catholic women and offering his Marylike Crusade to assist them in embracing it. Though, for the most part, the Catholic hierarchy in the United States ignored the Papal standard, Fr. Kunkel courageously spread the Church's teaching on modesty throughout the dioceses of the United States and beyond. On two separate occasions Pope Pius XII imparted his Apostolic Blessing upon the Crusade. In his blessing he called the Crusade a "laudable movement for modesty in dress and behavior," and extended that blessing "to all who further" it. 18

Considering the weight of approval the "Marylike Standards," have received and that they are derived from the universal standard set by Pope Pius XI, could there be any other standards for Catholic women to adopt? Following "The Marylike Standards" they will be following the approved teaching of the Church, and thus, they will never have reason to doubt that they are truly dressing in a manner that is pleasing to Jesus.

"The Marylike Standards," are provided in Section 4 along with guidelines for men, children and youth.

## 3. The Second Aspect: The Spirit of Modesty and The Traditional Form of Dress

This second aspect, of proper Christian dress is something less apparent than the first. Yet, though it is more subtle, *because of the long-term effects* of failing in this aspect, it may well be equally important to the Heart of God.

The second aspect of Christian modesty: being instilled with the spirit of modesty, does not deal with the danger of mortal sin by becoming an occasion of sin against purity. Rather, this second aspect deals, more positively, with learning to dress in the manner that is *proper to Christian dignity*. This means embracing the idea of dressing not so much with the view of seeking one's own pleasure or comfort, as to honor and edify one's neighbor, to be healthy yeast in the dough of society, and above all, *to best please God*. For many, this may mean sacrifice: The sacrifice of one's own desire, convenience, and habit, as well as the sacrifice of countering the popular fashions of the Cultural Revolution.

#### The Traditional Form of Dress

The few leaflets on modesty that can be found today generally say that for preserving purity, loose fitting pants are adequate for women. And this may be true — as long as they are actually loose enough to conceal a woman's form. However, one current little leaflet distributed by the Franciscan Friars of Mary Immaculate says something more. After presenting what is necessary for preserving purity, it goes on to state: "The ideal form of dress for a woman is a modest blouse and dress extending close to the ankles. Men should wear loose fitting shirts and slacks." 19 This ideal, it should be observed, is nothing more than the traditional form of dress for men and women approved in Christian society ever since males went from wearing robes to pants.\* It should also be noted that throughout the centuries, from Apostolic times until the 1920's, Christian women, as a rule, did not wear such things as tight-fitting or sleeveless tops, miniskirts, pants or shorts. Rather, even though styles have greatly varied, they have generally worn loose fitting dresses extending near or to the ankle. This is true even when women took part in activities such as riding on a horse or donkey (as Our Lady did en route to Bethlehem at the dawn of the Christian Era) or working in the fields (like St. Maria Goretti and her mother at

<sup>\*</sup> God first ordered pants or "breeches" for men in Exodus 28:42. They were to be worn by the priests under their robes when ministering in the Sanctuary. Eventually they became the common outer garment for men.

the dawn of the 20<sup>th</sup> Century), though such activities are done more conveniently in pants or shorts. The length of garment was indeed fitting, since in the Book of Isaiah God refers to a woman's bare legs as "nakedness" and "shame" (ls. 47:2-3).

By and large, Catholics have always understood that there are good reasons for traditions and thus have regarded them with respect. Traditions are simply good customs that help to safeguard and defend what we believe. They were practiced by those that came before and they are, in turn, to be handed on. Modern man seems to place little value on traditions (whether cultural or religious). Perhaps this is because our advancements in technology cause us to think of ourselves as superior to the generations that came before us. Therefore, we easily discard traditions for the sake of expediency, convenience or even the desire for novelty. Yet, there is always much wisdom bound up in good traditions.

For instance, in the Church we have the ancient ecclesiastical tradition of genuflecting in front of the Tabernacle. This tradition safeguards our belief that Jesus Christ, the Son of God, is really present in the Sacred Hosts reserved there and that when we are before the Tabernacle, we are in the awesome presence of Almighty God. Thus, when the practice of genuflecting is maintained, we are continually reminded that the church is the House of God, a Sacred Place, to be entered with due respect. Finally, it reminds us of His greatness and of our lowliness before Him.

The wisdom bound up in the tradition of genuflecting is clearly seen. Certainly it is more expedient and convenient to forego the act of genuflecting when entering the church. Yet, if this tradition is not preserved, Eucharistic faith and devotion begin eroding away. In a similar manner, there is also wisdom bound up in the traditional form of dress of Christian culture.

#### The Need for Distinction

Notice first, that the traditional form of dress for men and for women is different. And even in earlier times when men wore robes, their garments were distinctly different from

women's.\* There is a dangerous tendency in our modern culture to reduce or minimize the differences between men and women and their complementary roles. As Horvat pointed out, we are becoming a "unisex" society. Hasn't the most common and popular form of dress for both men and women been reduced to denim pants and a cotton T-shirt? God however, "created them male and female" (Gen. 5:2); therefore, though equal in dignity, they are indeed meant to be distinct from one another. So much so that the Bible says: "A woman shall not be clothed with man's apparel: neither shall a man use women's apparel. For he that doeth these things is abominable before God." (Deut. 22:5). On this same subject Fr. William C. Breda, O.S.A., wrote in an article entitled "Proper Attire Makes Us Human" in the September 10. 1981 issue of The Wanderer:

There seems to persist among many people the mistaken belief that we clothe ourselves mainly against the inclemencies of the climate, for protection against the weather and the cold, and that when summer comes, and the warm weather, we can doff our suits and dresses and go about unclad and half-naked. The whole idea is of course superficial... Without proper attire and without distinctive raiment we are simply not even human. Chesterton somewhere points to the truth of the old phrase 'clothed and in his right mind' [Mk. 5:15]: a sound and sane man moves around in his world in decent and proper apparel.

Our clothes are first and most of all the symbols of our state of life and of our social dignity. In the manner in which we dress and present ourselves, we express our masculinity and femininity...we manifest our beliefs and convictions, and we also proclaim our designs and intentions, and denote our tastes and tendencies. We are able therefore, or should be [able], to recognize a man and a woman by the clothes they are wearing. <sup>20</sup> (Emphasis in the original).

From this we see the need for distinction in dress between the sexes. But why is it that the traditional form of dress for

Men's robes were narrower and shorter. Women's robes were fuller and more colorful. This can still be seen today in some eastern cultures.

women is a long dress or skirt? The answer lies in the fact that dresses are a more dignified form of dress than pants, and thus they both adorn and safeguard a woman's beautiful and delicate femininity. In fact, Chesterton points out that because this style of clothing is more dignified, "when men wish to be safely impressive, as judges, priests or kings, they do wear skirts, the long, trailing robes of female dignity." <sup>21</sup>

Yes, even judges, priests, and kings traditionally wear distinguished robes signifying the special dignity of their office. Their manner of dress evokes the respect of others. And while it is fitting for a man to dress in robes (of masculine character), as was the custom in Biblical times, the thinking here is that it is not fitting for a woman to degrade her feminine dignity by wearing pants. As was stated above, because of the natural differences in the genders, women are more prone to be treated with less dignity or respect than men. Thus, Pope Pius XII taught that "the innate need to enhance beauty and dignity" is "more greatly felt by woman." <sup>22</sup>

A police officer might complain that he would be more comfortable working in jeans and a T-shirt. Yet, if he were allowed to do this, he wouldn't be recognized as an officer, nor would he be given the proper respect due to his position. Thus policemen wear a uniform and are respected and obeyed as being officers of the law. Likewise, a woman may seek comfort and convenience in wearing pants, but in doing so, she is less likely to be recognized and respected as *a lady*. Rather, she will blend in and may well be treated as just another man. By dressing in traditional feminine attire women are sure to be recognized as ladies, thus eliciting the admiration and commanding the respect of men, while also glorifying their God-given femininity. They will also do much to combat the abuse to which they are often subject today.

#### Reverence for the Female Body (the mitten and the glove)

There is also another reason why "the innate need to enhance...dignity" is "more greatly felt by woman." The Franciscan Friars Leaflet (mentioned above) explains a special reverence due to the female body:

The female body is, in a certain sense, more sacred than the male body because her body is capable of bringing to life a new human person created in the image and likeness of God and infused with an immortal soul that will last for all eternity.

Reflecting on this "frightful privilege," Chesterton was moved to express that "no one...can quite believe in the equality of the sexes." <sup>23</sup>

The leaflet goes on to say that "because the female body has this power and dignity it must be treated with reverence and should be kept 'veiled' with modest clothing. Immodest clothing thus profanes its sacred character."

Here again we note that dresses are far more suitable for a woman than pants. Dresses drape over a woman's form and veil in mystery and dignity her intimate center where new human life comes forth into this world. And long dresses aid women in safeguarding modesty while bending, stooping, working and going about their daily tasks. Pants on the other hand, by their nature are designed to fit a woman's outline, thus, even when they are loose they can become a danger when bending, stooping, etc. It is similar to the difference between a mitten and a glove. Which one reveals more about the hand?

#### A Perceptive Cardinal's Letter

The late Giuseppe Cardinal Siri explains some other important reasons for maintaining the *traditional* form of feminine attire. These reasons have to do with the effects of women wearing pants on families and society. The Cardinal explains them in a letter he wrote in 1960 when he first noticed "a certain increase in the use of men's dress by girls and women, even family mothers" in his Archdiocese of Genoa. <sup>24</sup> This letter was addressed to all those responsible for souls (*i.e.* Priests, Teaching Sisters, Educators, etc.). He began by mentioning that since trousers generally tend "to cling closer" than other forms of feminine attire "the tight fit of such clothing gives us no less grounds for concern than does exposure of the

body." Then, he went on to describe "a different aspect of women's wearing of men's trousers," which he said, "seems to us the gravest." He wrote:

The wearing of men's dress by women affects firstly the woman herself, by changing the feminine psychology proper to women; secondly it affects the woman as wife of her husband, by tending to vitiate\* relationships between the sexes; thirdly it affects the woman as mother of her children by harming her dignity in her children's eyes.

He went on to carefully elaborate on each of these points. Being too long to quote in full, two of the points are summarized here:

With regards to the "feminine psychology proper to women," he explained that "the motive impelling women to wear men's dress is always that of imitating, nay, of competing with, the man who is considered stronger, less tied down, more independent." A little study of history will reveal that, indeed, it was the desire to be "like a man" that motivated women to begin to wear pants. Today, of course, this can hardly be considered the conscious motive of all women in wearing pants. Many probably wear them because they are considered acceptable and for their convenience. Nevertheless, the Cardinal pointed out that "the clothing a person wears, demands, imposes and modifies that person's gestures, attitudes and behavior, such that from merely being worn outside, clothing comes to impose a particular frame of mind inside. Therefore, wearing trousers "is the visible aid to bringing about a mental attitude of being 'like a man," and to some degree "indicates her reacting to her femininity as though it is inferiority when in fact it is only diversity.

Certainly not every woman's psychology will be affected in the same way by the wearing of pants, but in reality, how many women have been affected without even realizing it, and by this, the whole of society? Are they still the heart of their families, desiring to be at home with their children? Are they still subject to the authority of their husbands as our holy religion teaches?

.

<sup>\*</sup> Vitiate: to spoil or to corrupt.

Or have they become more independent and taken interest in being out in the world, in competing with men at being the breadwinner and the head of the family?\* All evidence indicates that this trend has already very much changed the psychology of women in society. How will Catholic women be able fulfill their God-given role as females if they do not preserve their true feminine identity?

With regards to "the woman as mother of her children," the Cardinal explained that "all children have an instinct for the sense of dignity and decorum of their mother." Therefore, although "the child may not know the definition of exposure, frivolity or infidelity, ...he possesses an instinctive sixth sense to recognize them when they occur, to suffer from them, and be bitterly wounded by them in his soul." Here we see the need for maintaining a dignified feminine modesty not only in public, but also within the sanctuary of the home.

Obviously, the Cardinal's concern is not with restricting women, but in helping them preserve their beautiful and delicate femininity so *vital* to healthy families and to a healthy society. God made them male and female; and, Oh! how the world suffers when it loses the female element! As it is said: "The hand that rocks the cradle rules the world."

Further on in his letter, Cardinal Siri wrote:

<sup>\*</sup>In these times of disorder and confusion, the following teachings may be useful for those who are in the position to raise Catholic families: Pope Leo XIII reminded us in his Encyclical *Arcanum* (Feb. 10, 1880): "The husband is the chief of the family and the head of the wife. The woman...must be subject to her husband and obey him; not indeed, as a servant, but as a companion, so that her obedience shall be wanting in neither honor nor dignity. Since the husband represents Christ, and since the wife represents the Church, let there always be, both in him who commands and in her who obeys, a heaven-born love guiding both in their respective duties" (See Eph. 5:22-33). Later, in Casti Connubii (Dec. 31, 1930), Pope Pius XI proclaimed this order of the family as unchangeable and constituted by God: "...this subjection of wife to husband in its degree and manner may vary according to the different conditions of persons, place and time.... But the structure of the family and its fundamental law, established and confirmed by God, must always and everywhere be maintained intact."

Out of charity we are fighting against the flattening out of mankind, against the attack upon those differences on which rests the complementarity of man and woman.

When we see a woman in trousers, we should think not so much of her as of all mankind, of what it will be when women will have masculinized themselves for good. Nobody stands to gain by helping to bring about a future age of vagueness, ambiguity, imperfection and, in a word, monstrosities.

The Cardinal went on to warn that unlike the immediate harm done by "grave immodesty," the damage caused by women wearing pants was not "all to be seen within a short time." Rather the effects would be slow and insidious. During the past 40+ years since this warning, pants on women have become increasingly the norm. Less and less has been seen of the traditional form of dress, and thus, the demarcation between masculine and feminine and their complementary roles has faded. Unfortunately, those 40+ years have been long enough for us to witness the distressing consequences the clear-sighted Cardinal feared would come about in families and in society.

Sadly, there is ample evidence that the "masculinization" of women has helped to bring about an age of "imperfection" and "monstrosities". The Catholic Medical Association (CMA) in a recent open letter to the United States Bishops<sup>25</sup> explained that Gender Identification Disorder (GID) is the principal predisposing complex leading to the neurotic condition of homosexual attraction. Boys and girls are certainly born male and female respectively, but they must learn (especially through their samesex parent) what it means to be a man or a woman. If this is not learned, and a child grows up with a weak sexual identity (GID), there is a strong possibility he will eventually develop same-sex attraction (SSA). According to CMA's letter, of boys with GID "approximately 75% of them will go on to develop SSA." Here, then, is seen a strong reason why, as Fr. Breda stated, "the manner in which we dress ourselves" should "express our masculinity and femininity," and that we "should be [able] to recognize a man and a woman by the clothes they are wearing." Interestingly, Catholic psychologist Gerard van den Aardweg notes in his "(self-) therapy" book for homosexuality: <u>The Battle for Normality</u>, that in cultures (even the most primitive and pagan) where "the clear distinction" is made "between boys and girls," homosexuality is very rare, if not non-existent. <sup>26</sup> As part of the therapy in battling for normality, this orthodox Catholic psychologist, with over thirty years of successful therapeutic experience, advises women with SSA "to amend their stubborn aversion to wearing a nice gown or other typical women's dress." <sup>27</sup> He also states that "the ideology that obliterates sex roles is so unnatural that future generations will undoubtedly see it as a perversion of a decadent culture."

With all this in mind, could it be that pants on women were among the fashions Our Lady of Fatima was referring to when She said: "Certain fashions are to be introduced which will offend Our Lord very much"? Was it because St. Padre Pio foresaw these things that he preached against women wearing pants?<sup>29</sup>

#### The Church's thinking on Women's Attire

If we understand the female's greater need to enhance her dignity and to safeguard her feminine identity, we can understand why pants were never considered acceptable garb for women throughout the entire history of the Church. Pope Pius XI's 1928 standard for women's attire mentions only a dress. No standard was given for pants because they certainly were not considered feminine garb at that time. Now, however, at the dawn of the third millennium, it is clear that *secular society* in general has approved of pants for women. But is that enough? Not according to Pope Pius XII. In his address to the Latin Union of High Fashion in 1957 he stated that a "garment must not be evaluated according to the estimation of a decadent or already corrupt society, but according to the aspirations of a society which prizes the dignity and seriousness of its public attire." 30

It is plain to see from mass abortion alone (not to mention many other commonly accepted immoral practices) that today's society is "decadent" and "already corrupt." It is also plain to see that today's society does not "prize the dignity" nor the "seriousness"

of its public attire." One has only to go to a typical public school and observe what our society permits children and teenagers to wear to be convinced (*i.e.* lowrider pants, miniskirts, halter tops, pierced noses, lips, eyebrows, etc.). Therefore, society's approval of women wearing pants (contrary to Christian tradition) can be no guarantee that they are in fact a garment worthy of feminine dignity, or much less that they are pleasing to God.

Yet that is not all. In the same address, Pope Pius XII went on to say that people, being often "too docile" or "too lazy" to make their own critical judgment, "wish to be guided in style more than in any other activity." Therefore, they often "accept the first thing that is offered to them and only later become aware of how mediocre or unbecoming certain fashions are." Hence, we understand his warning that "style should be directed and controlled instead of being abandoned to caprice...." Though he was addressing first of all the designers, he went on to say: "...it also applies to individuals, whose dignity demands of them that they should liberate themselves with free and enlightened conscience from the imposition of pre-determined tastes, especially tastes debatable on moral grounds." Therefore, he concluded: "...react firmly against currents that are contrary to the best traditions." [Emphasis added]

We have seen that the ideal or traditional form of dress "for a woman is a modest blouse and dress extending close to the ankles." We have also seen that pants on women are indeed "debatable on moral grounds." Therefore, it seems clear that the Pope is asking for women to "react firmly against" donning pants (as well as other novelties in modern clothing) which not only cannot be found anywhere in "the best traditions," but are actually opposed by Christian tradition. Instead, they are to continue the long-standing tradition of wearing long dresses and skirts.

In fact, this same Pope went on to point out where the "best traditions" in feminine attire could be found. As the best models for women's clothing, he offered the "feminine figures in the masterpieces of classical art which have undisputed esthetical value. Here the clothing, marked by Christian decency, is a worthy ornament of the person with whose beauty it blends as in

a single triumph of admirable dignity." The impressive dresses he speaks of, as a rule, had not only ankle length hems, but also modest collars and long sleeves never shorter than the elbow. Nor did this attire hinder women from looking chastely beautiful. Let us understand here that the Pope is trying to do nothing more than move fashions back to the common decency of 1900 years of Christian tradition. Today's scanty and formfitting clothes were virtually unheard of in past ages.

Perhaps such clothing that admirably covers so much of the body won't be easily found today; nevertheless, a lofty example has been given for the virtuous woman to pursue. For while Pope Pius XII recognized that public morality certainly changes "according to the times, the nature and the conditions of the civilization of individual peoples," he said that "this does not invalidate the obligation to strive for the ideal of perfection...." And with this example we see that Fr. Kunkel's Crusade was right in calling the Marylike Standards "minimum standards." For there exists a higher ideal, an even greater modesty for which one can strive.

#### Shrines of the Holy Ghost

As was said before, dressing modestly is not reserved for women alone. All Christians, men, women and children, must dress with apt dignity. If by our manner of dress "we express" not only "our masculinity and femininity," as Fr. Breda explained, but also "our beliefs and convictions", we can understand the reason for this. What is our conviction? What do we believe as Christians? St. Paul says:

Surely you know that your bodies are the shrines of the Holy Ghost, Who dwells in you. And He is God's gift to you, so that you are no longer your own masters. A great price was paid to ransom you; glorify God by making your bodies the shrines of his presence. (1 Cor. 6:19-20, Knox version)

-

<sup>\*</sup>The Pope here was obviously not speaking of the artistic nudes & seminudes often found in classical art. Rather, we can be certain he was speaking of those feminine figures who are depicted clad in the typical modest and dignified forms of dress of Christian history.

#### A Positive Effect on Society

Often in our day, good Catholics are rightly heard complaining because they frequently see priests going about without their cassocks and collars, and religious sisters without their traditional habits. What a great effect their outward appearance has upon us! Yes, outward appearance produces such great effects, that Pope Pius XII exclaimed:

It is often said almost with passive resignation that fashions reflect the customs of a people. But it would be more exact and much more useful to say that they express the decision and moral direction that a nation intends to take: either to be shipwrecked in licentiousness or maintain itself at the level to which it has been raised by religion and civilization.<sup>36</sup>

Therefore, by becoming zealous in adhering to the traditional form of dress, Catholics will have a positive, moralizing effect upon the pagan world around them. Thus, they will work to reverse the Cultural Revolution and restore Christian Civilization.

#### 4. The Standards

These standards may appear as something out-dated; but the words of Our Lady assure us they are as pertinent today as ever: "The Church has no fashions; Our Lord is always the same." Pope Pius XII also assured us that although there can be a wide variety in fashions, "there always exists an absolute norm to be preserved" which cannot change with times and customs. To "justify" immodest fashions by calling them things we get "accustomed to," he said, was among "the most insidious of sophisms." 38

Therefore, the following timeless standards should be joyfully welcomed and embraced. Furthermore, Catholics should both charitably encourage and admonish each other to dress with proper modesty.

#### The Marylike Standards For Modesty In Dress 39

In order that uniformity in understanding prevail... we recall that a dress cannot be called decent which is cut deeper than two fingers breadth under the pit of the throat; which does not cover the arms at least to the elbows; and scarcely reaches a bit beyond the knees. Furthermore, dresses of transparent materials are improper.

— The Cardinal Vicar of Pope Pius XI.

- 1. Marylike is modest without compromise, "like Mary," Christ's Mother.
- Marylike dresses have sleeves extending at least to the elbows and skirts reaching below the knees.\*

(Note: Because of impossible market conditions quarter-length sleeves are temporarily tolerated with Ecclesiastical Approval, until Christian womanhood again turns to Mary as the model of modesty in dress.)

3. Marylike dresses require full coverage for the bodice, chest, shoulders, and back; except for a cut-out about the neck not exceeding two inches below the neckline in front and in back, and a corresponding two inches on the shoulders.<sup>†</sup>



<sup>\*</sup> When a woman sits down, her knees should still be <u>well</u> covered. Recall St. Padre Pio sending women away whose dresses were not a full 8 inches below the knees (see p. 11).

<sup>†</sup> The "neckline in front" runs along the top of the collarbone, somewhat <u>above</u> the "pit of the throat." Thus, the "two fingers breadth" of the Standard of Pius XI and the "two inches" of the approved Marylike Standards perfectly correspond.

- 4. Marylike dresses do not admit as modest coverage transparent fabrics laces, nets, organdy, nylons, etc. unless sufficient backing is added. However, their moderate use as trimmings is acceptable.
- 5. Marylike dresses avoid the improper use of flesh-colored fabrics.
- 6. Marylike dresses conceal rather than reveal the figure of the wearer; they do not emphasize, unduly, parts of the body.\*
- 7. Marylike dresses provide full coverage even after jacket, cape or stole are removed.

Virtuous young ladies should understand that dressing modestly does not mean that they cannot appear attractive. However, the attractiveness of their attire should be a modest reflection of the beauty deep within their soul rather than an improper exposure of sensual beauty that has an attraction that is only skin deep. Scripture teaches: "...let their adorning not be the outward plaiting of the hair, or the wearing of gold, or the putting on of apparel: But the hidden self of the heart in the incorruptibility of a quiet and a meek spirit which is rich in the sight of God" (1Pet. 3:3-4).

#### Standards for Men

Earlier in this booklet, St. Paul was quoted as saying that women should appear "in decent apparel; adorning themselves with modesty and sobriety" (1Tim. 2:9). And although, as already mentioned, this is more important for women, St. Francis De Sales commenting on this passage does not hesitate to remark that "the same may be said of men." <sup>40</sup> Yes, men too must dress with proper Christian dignity. How overly casual they have become. It is not acceptable for Christian men to go about their daily business in sportswear or other scanty clothing that covers the body little

\* This necessarily eliminates clingy sweaters, T-shirts, etc.: Recall St. Clement of Alexandria's admonishment about clothing that "cannot conceal

28

-

more than the clothing of savages. Remember that missionaries throughout Church history in converting these savages, taught them to cover themselves according to Christian decency.

Although the Church has not provided a universal standard for men's clothing, still, some guidelines can be found. In May 1946 the Canadian Bishops directed these words on modesty to men: "Man himself does not escape from the inclination of exhibiting his flesh: some go in public, stripped to the waist, or in very tight pants or in very scanty bathing suits. They thus commit offences against the virtue of modesty. They may also be an occasion of sin (in thought or desire) for our neighbor."<sup>41</sup>

Certainly then, men must take care to avoid tight fitting clothes, short shorts, low-buttoned shirts, muscle shirts, and going shirtless. Because of their Christian dignity, for their everyday attire they should gladly adhere to the ideal (or traditional) form of dress for men: "Loose fitting shirts and slacks." Long, loose fitting shorts are acceptable for sports, hiking and certain types of work. And finally, it should go without saying that earrings and other marks of effeminacy are to be avoided.

#### Standards for Children and Youth

Finally, with regards to youngsters, the Church teaches that even small children should be instructed in the practice of properly covering and adorning the body. In this way, by the time they reach puberty their sense of modesty will have become very acute, and the observance of modesty an ordinary part of their daily lives. In reality, then, there should exist little if any difference between the way adults and children observe modesty. Looking at pictures of the three Fatima children, we find good examples. They are but young children tending sheep, yet see how they are fully dressed, the boy like a male and the girls like females. And the youngest among them, Bl. Jacinta, gives us this beautiful example in her final illness. At only ten years old she had to undergo an operation at the insistence of her doctors. Though the anesthesia of those days "by no means took away her pain," it is said that she "suffered more from the humiliation of having to expose her body...than from the physical pain." 42

The 1930 letter of the Sacred Congregation of the Council (mentioned above) decreed, in part, the following:

Parents, conscious of their grave obligations toward the education, especially religious and moral, of their offspring, should assiduously inculcate in their souls, by word and example, love for the virtues of modesty and purity, and since their family should follow the example of the Holy Family, they must rule in such a manner that all its members, reared within the walls of the home, should find reason and incentive to love and preserve modesty. ...Let parents never permit their daughters to don immodest garb. <sup>43</sup>

Later, that great champion of Christian modesty, Pope Pius XII, gave these strong admonitions to parents:

Woe to those fathers and mothers lacking in energy and prudence, who cede to the caprices of their children and surrender that paternal authority written on the brow of man and wife as a reflection of the divine Majesty. 44

...O Christian mothers (and fathers), if only you knew the future of distress and peril, of shame ill-restrained, that you prepare for your sons and daughters in imprudently accustoming them to live hardly clothed and in making them lose the sense of modesty, you would be ashamed of yourselves and of the harm done to the little ones whom Heaven entrusted to your care, to be reared in Christian dignity and culture.<sup>45</sup>

Finally, on December 8, 1995, the Pontifical Council for the Family reminded parents:

Even if they are socially acceptable, some habits of speech and dress are not morally correct and represent a way of trivializing sexuality, reducing it to a consumer object. Parents should therefore teach their children the value of Christian modesty, moderate dress, and, when it comes to trends, the necessary autonomy. 46

#### **Sports and Recreation**

Many people think that when they are having a picnic or on an outing that the standards for modesty do not apply. Yet, on August 20, 1954, Pope Pius XII declared:

On the beaches, in country resorts, almost everywhere, on the streets of cities and towns, in public and private places, and, indeed, often even in buildings dedicated to God, an unworthy and indecent mode of dress has prevailed.<sup>47</sup>

These words remind us that the same standard of modesty is to be practiced at all times and places since in all circumstances human nature is subject to the same temptations.

Perhaps for many, because of existing habits, practicing modesty in this area will be the most difficult to observe. Our culture practically worships sports. Because of this, modesty in sportswear has been sacrificed to the god of gaining the competitive advantage — even if there is no competition! It is good to be reminded again of the words of Pope Pius XII:

The good of our soul is more important than that of our body; and we have to prefer the spiritual welfare of our neighbor to our bodily comforts...If a certain kind of dress constitutes a grave and proximate occasion of sin, and endangers the salvation of your soul and others, it is your duty to give it up. 48

Obviously, for this same reason, Pius XI, taught in his encyclical "On The Christian Education of Youth," that "in gymnastic exercises and deportment, special care must be had of Christian modesty in young women and girls, which is so gravely impaired by any kind of exhibition in public." <sup>49</sup> Later, Pope Pius XII would add, "Do they not see the harm resulting from excess in certain gymnastic exercises and sports not suitable for virtuous girls? <sup>50</sup>

Therefore, the Marylike Crusade taught that the same two rules apply everywhere: "Sufficient coverage and proper fit." <sup>51</sup> This is why Catholic schools once dressed their girls in Marylike

gym suits for physical education. We see how God came first in those days!

With regard to swimming there are virtually no commercially available swimsuits for women and girls that give proper coverage. The skintight suits for men are equally to be abhorred. Even as far back as 1959, Enrique Cardinal Pla y Daniel, Archbishop of Toledo, Spain, was moved to give this directive:

A special danger to morals is represented by public bathing at the beaches, in pools and river banks... Mixed bathing between men and women which nearly always is an approximate occasion of sin and a scandal, must be avoided.<sup>52</sup>

Perhaps we can understand from this the original wisdom in having a YMCA and a YWCA. Let us also keep in mind that up until the mid 1800's people just didn't swim in public. It seems in the past folks were well aware of the "special danger to morals" this would cause. Therefore, if any swimming is to be done, it should be within the family in an enclosed area. And carefully selected, skirted swimsuits will be necessary to preserve the modesty and femininity of the women.\*

#### Norms for Church and Other Sacred Places

Since Catholic Churches contain Jesus' Real Presence in the Tabernacle, they are the holiest places on earth; therefore, modesty must be specially observed in them. Modesty should also be specially observed in other sacred places (*i.e.* outdoor shrines, convents, rectories, seminaries, etc.). This is so important that the Marylike Crusade offered a special imprimatured "Code of Attire for Church and Sacred Places." This Code taught women that while they should dress with "Marylike modesty, both at home and in public," they must be "specially careful to do so when visiting any place dedicated to God." It also taught that "principles of proper clothing

(613) 275-2490 or Visit: littleflowersfamilypress.com.

.

<sup>\*</sup> For information on sources of genuinely modest swimwear (and other modest apparel) for women contact: *Little Flowers Family Press* at:

apply...also to men and boys." Finally, it warned that by coming to church or other sacred places in any kind of immodest garb "God is offended...very grievously." Consequently, it made a special point of instructing anyone who had "provoked the just anger of God by improper attire" in holy places to "humbly acknowledge and confess these sins...and make reparation to the offended Divine Majesty." These words of God's anger may sound severe to our hearing, but let us be mindful that the only place in the Gospel where Jesus ever showed anger (and a severe anger) was in the Temple of God. For as it is written of Him: "The zeal of thy House hath eaten me up." (Jn. 2:17).

Today, as in the times of pagan Rome, to observe proper norms for dress will often mean being different than others. Be mindful that it was daring individuals, who had no fear of the opinions of others, who introduced the improper, indecent and egalitarian fashions that are now destroying our once Christian culture. Therefore, it must be faithful Catholics (called to be the salt of the earth) who, reacting "firmly against the currents that are contrary to the best traditions," dare to lead our society back to that high standard of decency and harmonious diversity so pleasing to Our Lord and Our Lady. And thus even by their dress, they will prepare the world for the coming of God's Kingdom!

#### 5. The Feminine Advantage

As a final note, it must be said that women often believe they are gaining some great advantage by turning away from their proper and natural role in the family, society and the Church. The ironic truth of the matter is that in doing so they actually lose their most important advantage: their spiritual advantage over men. This truth is explained in this final section.

<sup>\*</sup> Concerning first century Rome: "The admirable purity of our ancestors appeared in their exterior. Nothing was more striking than the contrast between Christian and pagan women in this respect." Monsignor Gaume, The Catechism of Perseverence, Vol. III, p. 78. Dublin: M. H. Gill & Sons, Ltd., 1906.

As noted above, the "mental attitude of being 'like a man" which Cardinal Siri spoke of, has been very much instilled into our modern culture. This is expressed not only by the clothing women now wear, but also by their seeking to take more dominant roles in society, by their no longer recognizing their husband's authority in the family, and some, by even seeking Holy Orders in the Church. But as was shown above, men and women are created different. Therefore, though the genders are certainly equal in dignity, they have different roles to fulfill. Pope Pius XI pointed this out beautifully in this passage from his Encyclical, Casti Cannubii:

...if the man is the head, the woman is the heart, and as he occupies the chief place in ruling so she may and ought to claim for herself the chief place in love. <sup>54</sup>

The highly respected Catholic philosopher, Alice Von Hildebrand eloquently explains these differing roles further:

Men and women, while equal in dignity, are different and therefore are called upon to fulfill different functions. Men symbolize the active principle; women the receptive one (which is not to be identified with passivity). This complementarity finds its expression not only in the mystery of the sexual sphere, but on a much higher level, in the fact that the dignity of the priesthood is assigned to men and not to women. It is proper that a human male should actively duplicate the words Christ spoke at the Last Supper; while to the human female has been assigned the glorious function of sacred receptivity, so powerfully expressed in the words of the Holy Virgin, the blessed one among women, and the most perfect of all creatures. It was she who gave women their holy motto: "Be it DONE unto me according to Thy word." 55

"Receptivity," as Von Hildebrand defines it, "is a generous opening of oneself to another, allowing the possibility of fecundity [i.e. fertility or fruitfulness]." <sup>56</sup>

Therefore, the irony is, true holiness — with its demand for obedience, submissiveness, hiddenness, attentiveness, and for total trust and dependency on God — demands that *receptivity*,

which by nature is characteristic — not of men — but of women. This characteristic receptivity, we can be sure, is the reason that (as St. Teresa of Avila pointed out) many more women than men receive mystical graces. This is a simple fact of history. And sadly, women are losing this receptivity as they strive to be independent, aggressive and dominant seeking to take on the more active role of men.

It would seem clear then that God is calling women to be, in a certain sense, spiritual leaders, yet without in any way giving up the beautiful feminine nature with which He adorned them. Following the example of the Blessed Virgin Mary and the countless female Saints, by their example, they will lead all humanity along the way of obedience, submissiveness, hiddenness, attentiveness, trust and love to the establishment of God's Kingdom on earth, where the Divine Will will "be done on earth as it is in Heaven... Amen!"

#### **END NOTES**

- This saying was often repeated by Pius XII. Found in: Martin, Louis, Immodest Dress: The Mind of the Church, p. 6. Catholic Treasures, Monrovia, CA.
- Address of Pope Pius XII to a group of Catholic Action girls on October 6, 1940. Ibid., p. 12.
- <sup>3</sup> International Review of Freemasonry, 1928.
- Horvat, Marian Therese, "The Egalitarian Revolution, Part 4: The Cultural Revolution," *Echoes of True Catholicism*, Oct.29-Nov.4, 2001, Vol. 12, No. 154. (www.Dailycatholic.org/issue/2001Oct/oct29txt.htm).
- Immodest Dress: The Mind of the Church, pp. 7 & 12.
- 6 "L-115" (Pamphlet), The World Apostolate of Fatima, Washington, NJ. (Out of Print).
- Address of Pope Pius XII, July 17, 1954. Cited in: <u>Immodest Dress: The Mind of the Church</u>, pp. 23-4.
- Manelli, Fr. Stefano M. (FFI), <u>Jesus Our Eucharistic Love</u>, p. 67. Valatie, NY: The Academy of the Immaculate, 1996.
- Gaudiose, Dorothy M., <u>Prophet of the People</u>, pp. 191-2. Staten Island, NY: Alba House Publishers, 1988.
- <sup>10</sup> Cited in <u>Immodest Dress: The Mind of the Church</u>, p. 20-21.
- From the Summa of St. Thomas Aquinas (IIa IIae, Q. 26, a. 5, see also Q. 169, a. 2).
- Address of Pope Pius XII to young girls of Catholic Action of Rome, members of the Crusade for Purity, on May 22, 1941.
- $^{13}$  Shouppe, Fr. F. X., S.J.,  $\mathit{Hell}$ , p. 81. Rockford IL: TAN Books & Publishers, 1989.
- From a folder issued in 1935 by the "League of Modesty" with the Imprimatur of George Cardinal Mundelien. Cited in <u>Immodest Dress: The</u> <u>Mind of the Church</u>, p. 16.
- <sup>15</sup> Cited in <u>Immodest Dress: The Mind of the Church</u>, p. 12.
- <sup>16</sup> Ibid., p. 16.
- Kunkel, Fr. Bernard A., <u>Marylike Modesty Handbook of the Purity Crusade of Mary Immaculate</u>. (This book contained in <u>My Life in Prayer Book</u>, Radio Rosary: Pittsburgh, PA.) pp. 248-9.
- <sup>18</sup> Ibid., p. 230.

- "In Imitation of the Virgin" (Leaflet). Franciscan Friars of the Immaculate. New Bedford, MA.
- <sup>20</sup> Cited in <u>Immodest Dress: The Mind of the Church</u>, p. 22.
- Chesterton, G. K., What's Wrong with the World, Part III, Chapter 5: The Coldness of Chloe.
- Address of Pope Pius XII to a Congress of the "Latin Union of High Fashion," Nov. 8, 1957. Cited in "<u>L-75</u>" (Booklet), p. 75. The World Apostolate of Fatima, Washington, NJ. (Out of Print).
- What's Wrong with the World, Part III, Chapter 10: The Higher Anarchy.
- Giuseppe Cardinal Siri, "Notification Concerning Men's Dress Worn by Women," Genoa, June 12, 1960. Reprinted in <u>Immodesty: Satan's Virtue</u>, by Rita Davidson, pp. 127-134. Little Flowers Family Press, Jasper, ON, Canada: Jan. 2003. (littleflowersfamilypress.com)
- "What Could Bring On Same-Sex Attraction in Boys: Catholic Psychiatrists Look at Roots of U.S. Scandals," Zenit News Agency (<u>Zenit.org</u>). New York, June 27, 2002.
- Van Den Aardweg, Gerard J. M., <u>The Battle for Normality: A Guide For (Self-)</u> <u>Therapy For Homosexuality</u>, p. 78. San Francisco: Ignatius Press, 1997.
- <sup>27</sup> Ibid., p. 137.
- <sup>28</sup> Ibid., p. 147.
- Padre Pio's opposition to pants on women was verified by phone call to Our Lady of Grace Convent, San Giovanni Rotondo, Italy (June 19, 2003).
- Address of Pope Pius XII to a Congress of the "Latin Union of High Fashion," Nov. 8, 1957. Cited in "<u>L-75</u>," p. 80.
- <sup>31</sup> Ibid., p. 83.
- <sup>32</sup> Ibid., p. 82.
- 33 Ibid.
- <sup>34</sup> Ibid., p. 84.
- My Life in Prayer Book (containing: Marylike Modesty Handbook of the Purity Crusade of Mary Immaculate), p. 251.
- Address of Pope Pius XII to a Congress of the "Latin Union of High Fashion," Nov. 8, 1957. Cited in "<u>L-75</u>," p. 80.
- 37 Ibid.

- <sup>38</sup> Ibid., p. 84.
- Immodest Dress: The Mind of the Church, pp. 17-18. And My Life in Prayer Book (containing: Marylike Modesty Handbook of the Purity Crusade of Mary Immaculate), p. 259.
- <sup>40</sup> Introduction to the Devout Life, p.191.
- <sup>41</sup> Cited in <u>Immodesty: Satan's Virtue</u>, pp. 22-3.
- <sup>42</sup> Cirrincione, Msgr. Joseph A., <u>Ven. Jacinta Marto of Fatima</u>, p. 58. Rockford, IL: TAN Books and Publishers, Inc. 1992.
- <sup>43</sup> Cited in Immodest Dress: The Mind of the Church, p. 15.
- <sup>44</sup> Allocution on St. Maria Goretti, Canonization 1947. Cited in "<u>L-75</u>," p. 'D'.
- 45 Cited in My Life in Prayer Book (containing: Marylike Modesty Handbook of the Purity Crusade of Mary Immaculate), p. 240.
- 46 "Truth and Meaning of Human Sexuality, No. 97," Dec. 8, 1995, Pontifical Council for the Family.
- Excerpt from a letter Pope Pius XII delegated Cardinal Ciriaci (Prefect of the Sacred Congregation of the Council) to issue. Reprinted in <u>Immodesty: Satan's Virtue</u>, p. 123, (Here dated as Aug. 15, 1954).
- Address of Pope Pius XII to Catholic young girls' groups in Rome. Cited in <a href="Immodesty: Satan's Virtue">Immodesty: Satan's Virtue</a>, p. 23. See also note 11.
- <sup>49</sup> Encyclical of Pope Pius XI: *Rappresentanti in Terra*, Dec. 31, 1929.
- Allocution of Pope Pius XII to the Sodality convention in Rome on July 17, 1954.
- My Life in Prayer Book (containing: Marylike Modesty Handbook of the Purity Crusade of Mary Immaculate), p. 267.
- <sup>52</sup> Cited in Ibid., p. 269.
- Reprinted in <u>Immodesty: Satan's Virtue</u>, pp. 61-63.
- <sup>54</sup> Pope Pius XI, Encyclical *Casti Connubii*, December 31, 1930.
- 55 "The Sacredness of Tradition," Article by Alice Von Hildebrand, Homiletic & Pastoral Review, April 1995, pp. 26-31 & 46-7.
- "On the Privilege of Being a Woman," Lecture by Alice Von Hildebrand given at the NY Catholic Forum, January 14, 1997.

### **APPENDIX I**

## ROME'S DECREES ON THE DUTIES OF THOSE IN AUTHORITY

(Bishops, Priests, Religious, Teachers & Parents)

#### The Universal Standard

"In order that uniformity in understanding prevail... we recall that a dress cannot be called decent which is cut deeper than two fingers breadth under the pit of the throat; which does not cover the arms at least to the elbows; and scarcely reaches a bit beyond the knees. Furthermore, dresses of transparent materials are improper."

— The Cardinal Vicar of Pope Pius XI (1928)

## English Translation of the 1928 Letter to the Congregation for Religious

To The Ordinaries of Italy: regarding the crusade against immodest fashions, especially in schools directed by women Religious.

*Circular.* Most Illustrious and Reverend Sir, well known to you are the grave words of condemnation which the Holy Father spoke, on several occasions, with apostolic authority, against the immodest fashion of women's dress which prevails today to the detriment of good breeding.

Suffice it to recall the very grave words, charged with grief and admonition, with which in the discourse of August 15<sup>th</sup> current, in the consistorial chamber, promulgating the decree on the heroic virtues of Venerable Paola Frassinetti, His Holiness denounced once again the danger which, by its seductive fascination, threatens so many unwary souls, who profess to belong to the flock of Jesus Christ and to His Holy Church.

It is painful to point out in this regard that the deplorable custom tends to insinuate itself among young girls who frequent, as extern pupils, some of the schools directed by Sisters and Sunday-school classes which are held in female religious institutions.

In order to confront a danger which, by spreading, becomes ever more grave, this Sacred Congregation, by order of the Holy Father, calls upon the Ordinaries of Italy so that they may communicate to the superiors of the houses of female religious in their respective dioceses the following injunctions of this Sacred Congregation, confirmed by His Holiness in audience this day:

- a) In all schools, academies, recreation centers, Sunday schools, and laboratories directed by female religious, not to be admitted from now on are those girls who do not observe in their attire the rules of modesty and Christian decency.
- b) To this end, the superiors themselves will be obliged to exercise a close supervision and exclude peremptorily from the schools and projects of their institutions those pupils who do not conform to these prescriptions.
- c) They must not be influenced in this by any human respect, either for material considerations or by reason of the social prestige and of the families of their pupils, even though the student body should diminish in number.
- d) Furthermore, the Sisters, in fulfillment of their educational pursuits, must endeavor to inculcate sweetly and strongly in their pupils the love and relish for holy modesty, the sign and guardian of purity and delicate adornment of womankind.

Your Reverence will be vigilant that these injunctions be exactly observed and that there be perfect conformity of conduct among all the institutes of female religious in the diocese.

You will severely call to task whoever should fail in this, and should any abuse be prolonged, you will notify this Sacred Congregation.

With deepest esteem, I remain, Devotedly yours,

G. Cardinal Laurenti, Prefect Sacred Congregation for Religious Vincent La Puma, Secretary Rome, August 23, 1928

### 1930 Letter of the Congregation of the Council

By virtue of the supreme apostolate which he wields over the Universal Church by Divine Will, our Most Holy Father Pope Pius XI has never ceased to inculcate, both verbally and by his writings, the words of St. Paul (1 Tim. xi, 9-10), namely, "Women ... adorning themselves with modesty and sobriety ... and professing godliness with good works."

Very often, when occasion arose, the same Supreme Pontiff condemned emphatically the immodest fashion of dress adopted by Catholic women and girls -- which fashion not only offends the dignity of women and against her adornment, but conduces to the temporal ruin of the women and girls, and, what is still worse, to their eternal ruin, miserably dragging down others in their fall. It is not surprising, therefore, that all Bishops and other ordinaries, as is the duty of ministers of Christ, should in their own dioceses have unanimously opposed their depraved licentiousness and promiscuity of manners, often bearing with fortitude the derision and mockery leveled against them for this cause.

Therefore this Sacred Council, which watches over the discipline of clergy and people, while cordially commending the action of the Venerable Bishops, most emphatically exhorts them to persevere in their attitude and increase their activities insofar as their strength permits, in order that this unwholesome disease be definitely uprooted from human society.

In order to facilitate the desired effect, this Sacred Congregation, by the mandate of the Most Holy Father, has decreed as follows:

#### Exhortation to Those in Authority

- 1. The parish priest, and especially the preacher, when occasion arises, should, according to the words of the Apostle Paul (2 Tim. iv, 2), insist, argue exhort and command that feminine garb be based on modesty and womanly ornament be a defense of virtue. Let them likewise admonish parents to cause their daughters to cease wearing indecorous dress.
- 2. Parents, conscious of their grave obligations toward the education, especially religious and moral, to their offspring, should see to it that their daughters are solidly instructed, from earliest childhood, in Christian doctrine; and they themselves should assiduously inculcate in their souls, by word and example, love for the virtues of modesty and chastity; and since their family should follow the example of the Holy Family, they must rule in such a manner that all its members, reared within the walls of the home, should find reason and incentive to love and preserve modesty.

- 3. Let parents keep their daughters away from public gymnastic games and contests; but if their daughters are compelled to attend such exhibitions, let them see that they are fully and modestly dressed. Let them never permit their daughters to don immodest garb.
- 4. Superioresses and teachers in schools for girls must do their utmost to instill love of modesty in the hearts of maidens confided to their care and urge them to dress modestly.
- 5. Said Superioresses and teachers must not receive in their colleges and schools immodestly dressed girls, and should not even make an exception in the case of mothers of pupils. If, after being admitted, girls persist in dressing immodestly, such pupils should be dismissed.
- 6. Nuns, in compliance with the Letter dated August 23, 1928, by the Sacred Congregation of Religious, must not receive in their colleges, schools, oratories or recreation grounds, or, if once admitted, tolerate girls who are not dressed with Christian modesty; said Nuns, in addition, should do their utmost so that love for holy chastity and Christian modesty may become deeply rooted in the hearts of their pupils.
- 7. It is desirable that pious organizations of women be founded, which by their counsel, example and propaganda should combat the wearing of apparel unsuited to Christian modesty, and should promote purity of customs and modesty of dress.
- 8. In the pious associations of women those who dress immodestly should not be admitted to membership; but if, perchance, they are received, and after having been admitted, fall again into their error, they should be dismissed forthwith.
- 9. Maidens and women dressed immodestly are to be debarred from Holy Communion and from acting as sponsors at the Sacraments of Baptism and Confirmation; further, if the offense be extreme, they may even be forbidden to enter the church.

Donato Cardinal Sbaretti, Prefect Congregation of the Council Rome, January 12, 1930

Cited from: http://www.national-coalition.org/modesty/moddecre.html as reprinted from the *Marylike Crusader*, Nov-Dec 1963.

# APPENDIX II HEADCOVERING IN CHURCH

Are women still required to wear veils in the House of God? Perhaps most Catholics today believe they are not. But what is the truth? Jackie Freppon in a recent newsletter article reports:

During the Second Vatican Council, a mob of reporters waited for news after a council meeting. One of them asked Msgr. Annibale Bugnini, then secretary of the Vatican Congregation for Divine Worship, if women still had to wear a headcovering in church. He responded that the bishops were considering other issues, and women's veils were not on the agenda. The next day, the international press announced throughout the world that women did not have to keep their heads covered in church anymore. A few days later, Msgr. Bugnini told the press he was misquoted and women must still wear the veil. But the press did not retract the error, and many women stopped wearing the veil as out of confusion and because of pressure from feminist groups. 1

#### We read in First Corinthians:

Every man praying or prophesying with his head covered, disgraceth his head. But every women praying or prophesying with her head not covered, disgraceth her head: for it is all one as if she were shaven.

For if a woman be not covered, let her be shorn. But if it be a shame to a woman to be shorn or made bald, let her cover her head. The man indeed ought not to cover his head, because he is the image and glory of God. But the woman is the glory of the man. For the man is not of the woman but the woman of the man. For the man was not created for the woman: but the woman for the man.

Therefore ought the woman to have a power over her head, because of the angels....

"You yourselves judge. Doth it become a woman to pray unto God uncovered? Doth not even nature itself teach you, that a man indeed, if he nourish his hair, it is a shame unto him? But if a woman nourish her hair, it is a glory to her; for her hair is given to her for a covering. But if any man seem to be contentious, we have no such custom, nor the church of God." (1Cor. 11:4-10,13-16).

Here we see that the custom of the woman veiling her head in church is something bound up in her proper relation to the man as ordained by God. For the man, as Scripture teaches, is in authority over his wife (Eph. 5:22-33). We also see that "nature itself" teaches the logic of the veiling of a woman's head. For, during divine worship when all

attention is to be directed to the adoration of Almighty God, reason dictates that women must conceal the beauty of their hair and be modestly clad so as not to cause a distraction to men.

This passage, being Scriptural, is a divinely inspired teaching. Some would like to believe this teaching was just St. Paul's personal opinion, but Paul himself in the same epistle said: "...know that the things I write to you, that they are the commandments of the Lord." (1 Cor. 14:37). And, speaking on Sacred Scripture, Pope Leo XIII taught in his encyclical Providentissiumus Deus that "all the books which the Church receives as sacred and canonical, are written wholly and entirely, with all their parts, at the dictation of the Holy Ghost."

St. Paul's final words show to anyone who wants to act contrary to this practice, that it is an unchangeable *apostolic* and *ecclesial* tradition: "...if any man be contentious, we [i.e. Apostles] have no such custom, nor the church of God." And the Fathers of the Church unanimously agree. For instance, St. John Chrysostom states: "To oppose this practiced is contentious, which is irrational. The Corinthians might object, but if they do they are going against the practice of the Universal Church" (Homilies on First Corinthians, 26, 5). And Tertullian states: "What is the meaning of 'every woman' except women of every age, every rank, and every circumstance? No one is excepted" (On Prayer, 22, 4, on 1 Cor. 11:5). Please note, Pope St. Pius X, in his encyclical Pascendi reiterated the Church's teaching that apostolic and ecclesial traditions are not to be changed:

But for Catholics nothing will remove the authority of the second Council of Nicea, where it condemns those "who dare, after the impious fashion of heretics, to deride the ecclesiastical traditions...or endeavor by malice of craft to overthrow any one of the legitimate traditions of the Catholic Church".... Wherefore the Roman Pontiffs, Pius IV and Pius IX, ordered the insertion in the profession of the faith of the following declaration: "I most firmly admit and embrace the apostolic and ecclesiastical traditions and other observances and constitutions of the Church."

This apostolic tradition was kept *always and everywhere* in continuum for nearly 2000 years. Nowhere in all Church history do we find a breech in this venerable practice until some 35-40 years ago. Yet, even today, there exists no Church document abrogating this observance.

While it is true that there was a provision in the 1917 Code of Canon Law (Can. 1262.2) calling for the veil that is not seen in the new 1983 Code, that does not mean the it is no longer required. In the effort for simplification of Canon Law, this provision — already called for in Scripture and tradition — was simply left out. In fact, being that it is both a Scriptural teaching and a traditional observance, we have reason

to believe that the Church hierarchy has no authority to change this observance. Therefore, what we seem to be seeing today — with the majority of women entering churches with their heads unveiled — can be considered a breech in a divinely mandated observance which is being universally tolerated. The unveiled head may indeed seem to be a small thing, but Jesus taught: "He therefore that shall break one of these least commandments, and shall so teach men, shall be called the least in the kingdom of heaven." (Mt. 5:19). Let us remember the proof of our love for God: "If you love me keep my commandments." (John 14:15).

And then, how edifying it is to see women in church modestly dressed and heads veiled! How much it contributes to the atmosphere of sacredness in the House of God! How pleasing it is to the Angels of God! (1Cor. 11:10)



Mater Admirabilis

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Freppon, Jackie, "The Veil," © 2002, www.catholicplanet.com.

# APPENDIX III PERTINENT PROPHECIES

Our Lady of Good Success appeared to a holy nun (Mother Mariana) in Quito, Ecuador in the 17<sup>th</sup> Century with a message of warning for the end of the 19<sup>th</sup> Century and especially the 20<sup>th</sup> Century. The following words are taken from this Church approved apparition:

...in these unhappy times, there will be unbridled luxury which, acting thus to snare the rest into sin, will conquer innumerable frivolous souls who will be lost. Innocence will almost no longer be found in children, nor modesty in women, and in this supreme moment of need of the Church, those who should speak will fall silent.

Bl. Jacinta having heard the words of Our Lady of Fatima stated:

...the sins that bring most souls to Hell are the sins of the flesh. Certain fashions are going to be introduced which will offend Our Lord very much. Those who serve God should not follow these fashions. The Church has no fashions; Our Lord is always the same. The sins of the world are too great. If only people knew what eternity is they would do everything to change their lives. People lose their souls because they do not think about the death of Our Lord and do not do penance.

#### The Marylike Standards For Modesty In Dress

In order that uniformity in understanding prevail... we recall that a dress cannot be called decent which is cut deeper than two fingers breadth under the pit of the throat; which does not cover the arms at least to the elbows; and scarcely reaches a bit beyond the knees. Furthermore, dresses of transparent materials are improper.

— The Cardinal Vicar of Pope Pius XI.

- Marylike is modest without compromise, "like Mary," Christ's Mother.
- 2. Marylike dresses have sleeves extending at least to the elbows and skirts reaching below the knees.\*

(Note: Because of impossible market conditions quarterlength sleeves are temporarily tolerated with Ecclesiastical Approval, until Christian womanhood again turns to Mary as the model of modesty in dress.)

- 3. Marylike dresses require full coverage for the bodice, chest, shoulders, and back; except for a cut-out about the neck not exceeding two inches below the neckline in front and in back, and a corresponding two inches on the shoulders.†
- 4. Marylike dresses do not admit as modest coverage transparent fabrics laces, nets, organdy, nylons, etc. unless sufficient backing is added. However, their moderate use as trimmings is acceptable.
- 5. Marylike dresses avoid the improper use of flesh-colored fabrics.
- 6. Marylike dresses conceal rather than reveal the figure of the wearer; they do not emphasize, unduly, parts of the body.‡
- 7. Marylike dresses provide full coverage even after jacket, cape or stole are removed.

These are the *minimal* standards. For the love of Our Lord Jesus Christ, let us "strive for the ideal of perfection." (See "The Church's Thinking on Women's Attire" pp. 23-25).

<sup>\*</sup> When a woman sits down, her knees should still be <u>well</u> covered. St. Padre Pio sent women away whose dresses were not a full 8 inches below the knees (see p. 11).

<sup>†</sup> The "neckline in front" runs along the top of the collarbone, somewhat <a href="mailto:above">above</a> the "pit of the throat." Thus, the "two fingers breadth" of the Standard of Pius XI and the "two inches" of the approved Marylike Standards perfectly correspond.

<sup>‡</sup> This necessarily eliminates clingy sweaters, T-shirts, etc.: St. Clement of Alexandria warned against clothing that "cannot conceal the shape of the body" (see p. 10).

"It is often said almost with passive resignation that fashions reflect the customs of a people. But it would be more exact and much more useful to say that they express the decision and moral direction that a nation intends to take: either to be shipwrecked in licentiousness or maintain itself at the level to which it has been raised by religion and civilization."

Pope Pius XII (see p. 26)

"...[A] noble lady, who was exceedingly pious, God to make known to her displeased His Divine Majesty most in persons of her sex. The Lord vouchsafed in a miraculous manner to hear her. He opened under her eyes the Eternal Abyss. There she saw a woman a prey to cruel torments and in her recognized one of her friends, a short time before deceased. This sight caused her as much astonishment as grief: the person whom she saw damned did not seem to her to have lived badly. Then that unhappy soul said to her: 'It is true that I practiced religion, but I was a slave of vanity. Rued by the passion to please, I was not afraid to adopt indecent fashions to attract attention, and I kindled the fire of impurity in more than one heart. Christian women knew how much immodesty in dress displeases God!' At the same moment, this unhappy soul was pierced by two fiery lances, and plunged into a caldron of liquid lead."

Fr. X. Schouppe (see p. 12)